INTRODUCTION 

The Respondent, Linda Darkenwald, was employed as a Dental Hy-

gienist in the offices of Dr. Gordon Yamaguchi D.D.S. for twenty-five years. 

Due to her physical disability, her hours of work had been gradually decreas-

ing and for the last four years by agreement with her employer she had been 

working only two days a week. In July 2010, Dr. Yamaguchi detennined he 

needed Mrs. Darkenwald to work three days a week instead of the two days 

she had been working the past four years for health reasons. When Mrs. 

Darkenwald infonned the dentist that she could not work three days a week, 

the doctor insisted that was what he needed. Mrs. Darkenwald understood 

her employment was tenninated because she could not work that many days 

a week. 

The Employment Security Department denied Mrs. Darkenwald's 

application for unemployment insurance on the basis that she had quit her 

job without good cause.l On appeal, the Superior Court found that Mrs. 

Darkenwald had quit her employment with good cause because her physical 

disability prevented her from working more than two days a week. On De-

I It was also denied on the basis that Mrs. Darkenwald allegedly was not available (will
ing) to work at any job on Fridays. That was the basis for the denial in the companion 
case in Thurston County Cause No. 11-2-0011S-3 which was reversed based on the 
agreement of the parties that the record clearly reflected she was willing to work Fridays. 



cember 19, 2012, the Superior Court entered a Judgment reversing the De-

partment's denial ofbenefits.2 

Herein, Respondent submits that consistent with the Superior Court's 

interpretation of the record and the applicable law, Mrs. Darkenwald quit 

with good cause because she couldn't work the three days a week her em-

ployer demanded because of her disability. Because of her status as a "part-

time worker" pursuant to RCW 50.20.119, Mrs. Darkenwald had other 

"good cause" to quit in addition to her health. 

The Department filed a notice of appeal on January 8, 2013 . Before 

filing a supersedeas without bond in the Superior Court on March 27, 

2013, the Department paid Mrs. Darkenwald her back benefits. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Darkenwald moves herein for dismissal of the Department's 

appeal on the grounds that the recent benefit payments made to Darkenwald 

make the appeal moot. 

B. Darkenwald has not assigned any error to the Superior Court 

decision and is the Respondent herein because the Department has appealed 

2 CP 75-78. Because Mrs. Darkenwald's husband is a long time member of the Thurston 
County bar, the appeal was heard by a visiting judge, the Honorable Amber L. Finlay, 
Mason County Superior Court Judge. 
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the determination that Darkenwald is entitled to benefits because she quit for 

good cause. Darkenwald alleges that the Department's decision: 

(1) Erroneously interpreted or applied the law; 

(2) Was not supported by evidence that is substantial when 

viewed in light of the whole record; or 

(3) Was arbitrary and capricious.3 

ISSUES PRESENTED BY ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The following issues are presented by Darkenwald's motion to dis

miss and her assignments of error to the Department's decision denying ben

efits on the basis that she quit without good cause: 

(1 ) Whether the Department's appeal should be dismissed as 

moot because of the recent benefit payments, which constitute a "redetermi

nation," and because there is no evidence of fraud, misrepresentation or lack 

of disclosure by Mrs. Darkenwald. 

(2) Whether an employee quits for "good cause" where: 

(a) the employee's physical disability prevents her from 

working more than two days a week but her employer demands that she 

work three days a week (RCW 50.20(2)(b )(ii)); or 

3 RCW 34.05.570(3)(d)(e) and (i). 
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(b) the employee's statutory "Part-time worker" status 

(RCW 50.20.119) gives her the legal right to decline an employer's demand 

that she increase her work week to more than 17 hours a week; and 

(c) the employer's request the employee work "on-call" 

as a substitute would have reduced her work hours by twenty-five percent or 

more. RCW 50.20.050 (2)(b)(vi). 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Linda Darkenwald was employed as a Dental Hygienist in Dr. Ya

maguchi's office for twenty-five (25) years.4 Most dentist offices are only 

open four (4) days a week so it is extremely uncommon for a hygienist to 

work more than four (4) days a week. 5 At the time her employment was ter-

minated, by agreement with her employer Mrs. Darkenwald was only work-

ing two days (between 14 to 17 hours) per week. 6 

Mrs. Darkenwald has "a serious neck and back problem" for which 

she had received medical attention. In fact, she had received "a permanent 

impairment rating of category 2 of the dorsal spine" from the Department of 

Labor and Industries back in 1998.7 She described the medical consequences 

from working more than two days a week as "quite severe" and that "if I 

4 R. 15:14-15. (Department Record at 15 of 139 pages.) 
5 R. 24:18-23. 
6R.16:1 -4and21 :1-11. 
7 R. 137. 
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work more than that it becomes very chronic to the point of then I actually 

can't work."s She had not been able to work more than two (2) days a week 

for the last four (4) years because of the constant pain it caused.9 It didn't 

matter to her what two days of the week she worked 10 including Fridays. I I 

None of this testimony was challenged. 

On July 28, 2010, Mrs. Darkenwald met with Dr. Yamaguchi pri-

vately. He told her that because his business was growing (he had added a 

dentist), he had to have someone who could work three (3) days a week. He 

wanted her to work Fridays [adding an additional seven to eight hours to her 

work week for a total of 21 to 23 hours per week]. Mrs. Darkenwald was 

surprised, because the dentist knew she couldn't work three (3) days a week. 

She told the Doctor "I hear you saying that I am fired." She followed that 

statement up with asking "[ w ]hen will I know when is my last day?" Dr. 

Yamaguchi didn't correct her, but rather replied "Lynn [his wife who also 

worked in the office as office manager] will tell you that.,,12 Mrs. 

gR. 14:7-25. 
9 R. 15:2-6. 
10 R. 16:24. 
II R. 18:24-25. 
12 Q. How did the job end for you? 
A. On July the 28th ••• Wed. Dr. Yamaguchi asked me ifI would talk to him and Lynn (his 
wife and office mgr.) ... he said he would like somebody who could work three days a 
week .. . And so I asked him if I could repeat back what I had heard. I said I hear you say
ing that I am fired. You need somebody three days a week .... When will I know when is 
my last day? .. .'Lynn will tell you'. So I went up front and I asked Lynn, I said, 'I've 
been fired. When is my last day?" ... Record p. 22 of 139 lines 4-18. 

5 



Darkenwald spoke with Lynn on August 2nd• Lynn told her she had already 

hired someone named Debbie to start around the 11 th of August. In a later 

phone call Lynn told Mrs. Darkenwald they would like her to stay through 

the 23rd of August because Debbie couldn't start until then. 13 The record re-

flects that a replacement hygienist (Debbie) was actually hired. 14 

After twenty-five years of highly valued service, Linda 

Darkenwald's employment with Dr. Yamaguchi terminated. His office 

records show "discharge" as the reason. 15 In a statement to the Department, 

Lynn Yamaguchi stated that the dental office records reflected the reason for 

separation as "Discharge" and that "she [Mrs. Darkenwald] refused to work 

three days. She could not do three days a week.,,16 Although Mrs. 

Darkenwald believed she had been fired (and replaced) because she couldn't 

work more than two days (14-17 hours) per week, the evidence is also con-

13 Q. And who informed you of what your last day of work would be? 
A. Lynn 
Q. And when did she do that? 
A. So on August 2, a Monday, I came to work. And Lynn and I talked about when would 
be my last day. And she started to tell me that she had a person named Debbie coming on 
board who she wasn 't sure, you know, when Debbie could start. (emphasis added) So she 
kind of thought about it. And then she said to me 'Well, I think around August 11th'. 
Then when I got home that day there was a voice mail from her saying 'No, we'd like 
you to stay through the 23rd of August'. So I heard that as they've hired a person to fill 
your spot. And she can't come on board until August 23rd. 

Q. Okay, So you felt you were fired on July 28 th. 
A. Right. Record Pg. 23, of 139, line 25 through Pg. 24, line 23. 
14R.26. 
15 R. 131. 
16 R. 131, "Expert Fact Finding." 
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sistent with the legal conclusion that she quit for "good cause" because she 

could not increase her work week to more than 17 hours a week as the Supe-

rior Court determined. 

Letters exchanged between the employee and employer are also con-

sistent with the different understanding by both parties of how the relation-

ship ended. In her letter, Mrs. Darkenwald begins by referring to her "being 

summarily fired.,,17 The employer's response, although it says they hadn't 

"considered you fired" also says, "[t]he bottom line is I need a three day a 

week hygienist for the practice.,,18 During the hearing, Dr. Yamaguchi testi-

fied: "If Linda could have worked more days I would have never let her 

go. She had a long outstanding history. She had seen a lot of my patients a 

long time.,,19 (Emphasis supplied.) Regardless of the parties' intentions, it 

was at least clear that Mrs. Darkenwald's hygienist position was now a 

three day a week one. Dr. Yamaguchi may have wanted her to stay in the 

position, because she had been a good employee, but he gave no indication 

of changing his position that the person in the job had to work three days a 

week. 

17 R. 45. 
18 R. 46. 
19 R. 26: 17-19 [Emphasis supplied]. 
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The Doctor's own testimony establishes that Darkenwald's termi-

nation on July 28th was a/ail accompli when he spoke to her that date. 

Q. (By Judge Skeel) So, Dr. Yamaguchi, what did you ask 
her to do when you called her in for the interview. What 
was your request? 
A. I wanted to talk to her. I knew my consultant talked to 
her. And she said she was not going to be available for 
more days. I wanted to re-state that. We need more days. I 
need to go ahead. My rcractice has grown. And that's what 
the meeting was about. 0 

Dr. Yamaguchi claimed that despite her L&I injury to her neck and 

back in 1998, Mrs. Darkenwald had no physical disability (suggesting she 

could work three days a week). He gave as the reason for this belief that 

he knew she had run a marathon more than twenty-five years earlier in 

1982.21 Mrs. Darkenwald hasn't run a marathon since 1984.22 No credible 

evidence refutes her testimony which is supported by the L&I disability 

determination. 

In its decision, however, the Department confused Darkenwald's 

not being physically able to work three days with the admittedly unfound-

ed finding that she was not interested in working on Fridays?3 In fact the 

20 R. 26:22-27:2. 

21 R. 28:22-23. 
22 

R. 33:25-34:3. 
23 R. 89 (Finding 18). 
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Department concluded: "Claimant has not established that her medical 

condition was the reason she was not able to work on Fridays.,,24 

The decision that Darkenwald was disqualified from benefits be-

cause she did not want to work on Fridays, made by the same Administra-

tive Law Judge, and affirmed by the Commissioner, was reversed by a 

stipulated order because the Department agreed that the record did not 

support a finding that Darkenwald did not want to work on Fridays.25 

However, this error clearly influenced the Commission's decision regard-

ing the reasons for Darkenwald's not working three days a week, even in 

this case concerning the reason for her employment termination. 

On August 6, 2010, Linda Darkenwald made an Application for un-

employment benefits?6 A Determination Notice denying her benefits was 

issued on August 20, 2010. The notice stated: 

Your employer states that you quit on 81211 ° because you 
were offered three days per week. You refused to work three 
days ... You have not established good cause. Therefore bene
fits are denied.27 

24 R. 92 (Conclusion 9). 
25 Decision 04-2010-3165, R. 94-96 and Stipulated and Agreed Order of Reversal CP 19-
20. 
26 R. 53. 
27 R. 49. 
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On September 16, 2010, Mrs. Darkenwald filed a Notice of Appeal 

to the Department which stated: "I did not quit my job-rather, I was fired.,,28 

A telephone hearing was held on October 13, 2010 on two reasons 

for the denial of benefits. In Docket No. 04-201 0-31265 the issue was 

whether Mrs. Darkenwald was actively looking for work as required by 

RCW 50.20.01O(1)(c); and in Docket No. 04-2010-31264 the issue was 

whether Mrs. Darkenwald voluntarily quit without good cause or was dis-

charged for misconduct pursuant to RCW 50.20.050(2)?9 

The Department denied Mrs. Darkenwald benefits on both grounds.3o 

Mrs. Darkenwald's petition for review31 was denied.32 Similarly, her Peti-

tions for Reconsideration33 were also denied.34 Even though the employer 

initiated a change in employment requirements that had been in place for 

several years and which he knew the employee could not meet for medical 

reasons, the Department concluded that "claimant was the moving party in 

28 R.70. 
29 R. 8:3-12. 
30 10-14-10: Initial orders in Docket No. 31264 R. 88 and Docket No. 31265 R. 94. 
31 11-12-10: Petition for Review: R. 102. 
32 12-17-10: Decision of Conumssioner denying review Docket No. 31264 R.l14 and 
Docket No. 31265 R. 118. 
33 12-27-10 Petition for Reconsideration Docket No. 31264 R. 123 and Docket No. 31265 R. 
124. 
34 1_7_11 : Consolidated Order Denying Petitions for Reconsideration. 
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the job separation, did not have statutory good cause for leaving, and that 

benefits must therefore be denied.,,35 

On appeal to the Superior Court, and prior to trial, the Department 

agreed that the evidence did not support the denial based on Mrs. 

Darkenwald's not actively looking for work on the basis that she wasn't 

available to work on Fridays. The Superior Court entered a stipulated order 

reversing the determination in Commission Docket No. 04-2010-31265 be-

cause Mrs. Darkenwald met the eligibility requirements of RCW 

50.20.010(1)(c) (actively seeking work). The remaining issue in Commission 

Docket No. 04-2010-31264 was framed by the Department as whether Mrs. 

Darkenwald voluntarily quit work without good cause (RCW 50.20.050) and 

was therefore not "unemployed through no fault of their own" (RCW 

36 50.01.010). 

Following a review of the Department record and after considering 

the written and oral arguments of counsel, the Superior Court reversed the 

Department's denial of benefits on the basis that Darkenwald had good cause 

to quit her employment because she was physically unable to work more 

than the two days a week she had been working for the past four years. On 

December 17, 2012, the court entered "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law 

35 R. 114. Decision of Commissioner. 
36 

CP 51 and 55. 
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and Judgment" consistent with the court's earlier rulings reversing the De-

partment's denial of benefits and awarding Darkenwald reasonable attorney 

fees in the stipulated amount of $5,162.50.37 The Department filed this ap-

The Department later made back benefit payments to Mrs. 

Darkenwald as follows: 

February 23, 2013: $18,492 for the period 8/07/10 through 8/13111 
(46 weeks at her weekly benefit amount of$402/week) 

February 24,2013: $5,628 for the period 8/13/11 through 11-26/11 
(14 weeks) 

February 25,2013: $5,276 for the period 11126/11 through 2/25/12 
(13 weeks) 

February 25, 2013: $2,412 for the period 2/25/12 through 4/7/12 (6 
weeks) 

Total payments: $31,758 for 79 weeks at $402/week.39 

No explanatory letter came with these checks, nor was there nor has there 

been any formal notice pursuant to WAC 192-220-010 that the Department 

deemed these payments "overpayments" subject to an attempt at recoupment 

pursuant to RCW 50.20.190, nor has there been any notification or indication 

that the Department deemed these payments "provisional." 

37 CP 75-78. 

38 CP 79-80. 

39 See Respondent's Motion to Pennit Additional Evidence on Review filed April 3, 
2013. 
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Subsequently on March 27, 2013 the Department filed a 

supersedeas.4o 

ARGUMENT 

1. Standard on review. 

Mrs. Darkenwald challenges the denial of unemployment insurance 

benefits by the Department. She bears the burden of establishing the invalidi-

ty of the Department decision. RCW 50.32.150. Although Darkenwald pre-

vailed in the Superior Court, this court's review is of the Department's deci-

slOn. 

In reviewing a superior court's final order on review of a 
commissioner's decision, we "apple[y] the standards of the 
Administrative Procedures Act directly to the record before 
the agency, sitting in the same position as the superior 
court." Honesty in Evil. Analysis & Legislation (HEAL) v. 
Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 96 
Wash.App. 522, 526,979 P.2d 864 (1999). We review only 
the commissioner's decision, not the administrative law 
judge's decision or the superior court's ruling. Verizon Nw., 
Inc. v. Wash. Em~'t Sec. Dep't, 164 Wash.2d 909, 915, 194 
P.3d 255 (2008). 1 We review the commissioner's legal de
terminations using the AP A's "error of law" standard, 
which allows us to substitute our view of the law for the 
Board's. Verizon Nw., 164 Wash.2d at 915, 194 P.3d 255; 
see RCW 34.05.570(3)(d). We review an agency's interpre
tation or application of the law de novo. HEAL,96 
Wash. App. at 526, 979 P.2d 864. We give substantial 

40 
Supp. CP 81-83. 

41 In this case, however, the Commissioner expressly adopted the Administrative Law 
Judge's findings as her own. R. 114. They are thus reviewable as to whether they are 
supported by substantial evidence in the record. 
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weight to an agency's interpretation of the law within its 
expertise, such as regulations the agency administers. 
Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 159 Wash.2d 
868, 885, 154 P.3d 891 (2007); Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. 
Granger, 159 Wash.2d 752, 764, 153 P.3d 839 (2007). We 
will uphold an agency's findings of fact if, when viewed in 
light of the whole record before the court, substantial evi
dence supports it. William Dickson Co. v. Puget Sound Air 
Pollution Control Agency, 81 Wash.App. 403, 411, 914 
P.2d 750 (1996). 

The legislature enacted the Employment Security Act to 
award unemployment benefits to "persons unemployed 
through no fault of their own." RCW 50.01.010; Safeco Ins. 
Cos. v. Meyering, 102 Wash.2d 385, 392, 687 P.2d 195 
(1984). The Act disqualifies a person from receiving bene
fits if the individual worker is to blame for the unemploy
ment. Safeco, 102 Wash.2d at 392,687 P.2d 195. Thus, the 
Act disqualifies a person from receiving benefits if she "left 
work voluntarily without good cause." [Footnote: Another 
section of the Act provides for discharge due to miscon
duct. RCW 50.20.060(1). Both sections will not apply to 
the same set of facts. Safeco, 102 Wash.2d at 389, 687 P.2d 
195. Without analysis, citation to the statute, or citation to 
authority, Courtney adds as "issue in reply" whether Court
ney was fired without proof of misconduct. Reply Br. of 
Appellant at 2 (capitalization omitted). We will not consid
er claims not supported by citation to authority, references 
to the record, or meaningful analysis. RAP 10.3(6); 
Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wash.2d 801, 
809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).] RCW 50.20.050(2)(a). The 
phrase "left work voluntarily" in RCW 50.20.050 is a legal 
phrase determined by the facts of the case. Read v. Emp't 
Sec. Dep't, 62 Wash.App. 227, 233, 813 P.2d 1262 (1991). 
The Act requires the Department to analyze the facts of 
each case to determine what actually caused the employee's 
separation. Safeco, 102 Wash.2d at 392-93, 687 P.2d 195. 
A voluntary termination requires a showing that an em
ployee intentionally terminated her own employment or 
committed an act that the employee knew would result in 
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discharge. Vergeyle v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 28 Wash.App. 399, 
402, 623 P.2d 736, review denied, 95 Wash.2d 1021,1981 
WL 191040 (1981), overruled on other grounds by Davis v. 
Emp't Sec. Dep't, 108 Wash.2d 272,737 P.2d 1262 (1987). 
[Some footnotes omitted] 

Courtney v. Employment Security Dept., 171 Wn. App. 655, 598-599, 287 

P.3d 596 (2012). 

The agency's findings must be supported by evidence that is substan-

tial meaning it is "sufficient to persuade a rational, fair minded person of the 

truth of the finding." Okamoto v. Employment Security Department, 107 Wn. 

App 490, 497, 27 P.3d 1203 (2001). 

The Department's action is arbitrary and capricious "if it is willful 

and unreasoning, without consideration for, and in disregard of, facts and 

circumstances." Shoreline Community College v. Employment Security, 59 

Wn. App 65, 69-70, 595 P.2d 1178 (1990). 

The Department denied benefits on the basis that Darkenwald quit 

without good cause.42 An employee who voluntarily leaves work without

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