#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### LINDA DARKENWALD,

Respondent,

v.

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT,

Appellant.

#### APPELLANT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Eric Sonju WSBA No. 43167 Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 10110 Olympia, WA 98504-0110 (306) 664-2475

####

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Commissioner's decision because substantial evidence supports its findings of fact and its conclusions of law are free from error. The Employment Security Act ("the Act") "shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing *involuntary* unemployment and the suffering caused thereby to a minimum." RCW 50.01.010 (emphasis added). As such, the burden is on the claimant to establish her right to benefits under the Act, and this burden of proof never shifts during the course of proceedings. *Townsend v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 54 Wn.2d 532, 534, 341 P.2d 877 (1959); *In re Anderson*, 39 Wn.2d 356, 365, 235 P.2d 303 (1951). The Act requires the Department to analyze the facts of each

case to determine what actually caused the employee's separation.

Courtney, 171 Wn. App. at 661 (internal citation omitted). Liberal construction of the Act does not require payment of benefits to a claimant who was responsible for her own separation from employment.

Ms. Darkenwald chose to end her employment. She could have continued working for her employer, and her employer had no desire for the employment relationship to end. The Commissioner correctly determined that Ms. Darkenwald voluntarily quit her job, not that she was discharged.

The Commissioner also properly concluded that Ms. Darkenwald did not have good cause for quitting. She did not carry her burden of proving that a disability made it necessary for her to quit, that she notified her employer of any disabling condition, or that a disability was her primary reason for quitting.

Nor did Ms. Darkenwald have good cause to quit on the ground that she was "vested" as a part-time worker and entitled to quit rather than accept full-time work. The good cause reasons for quitting are strictly limited to those found in RCW 50.20.050, and this part-time worker concept is not included therein. *Campbell v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, No. 42631-5-II, slip. op. at 5, 297 P.3d 757, 760 (Wash. Ct. App. March 26, 2013).

Finally, Ms. Darkenwald did not have good cause to quit on the grounds that her employer reduced her hours by 25 percent or more. RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(vi). She was asked to work more hours, not fewer. She was offered an on-call position as an alternative, but she did not accept it. She never experienced a reduction in hours, and her assumption that she would have if she served as a substitute is irrelevant and based on unreasonable speculation.

Ms. Darkenwald was not involuntarily unemployed through no fault of her own. The Commissioner properly recognized this and denied her unemployment benefits. This Court should affirm this decision.

#### A. Ms. Darkenwald Voluntarily Quit Her Job

To determine whether an individual is at fault for her unemployment and therefore disqualified from receiving benefits, the Employment Security Act first requires a determination of whether the person voluntarily quit her job or was discharged. Safeco Ins. Cos. v. Meyering, 102 Wn.2d 385, 389, 687 P.2d 195 (2012). Properly characterizing a job separation presents a mixed question of law and fact. Id. at 390. Determining whether an employee voluntarily quit turns on whether the employee "intentionally terminated her own employment or committed an act that the employee knew would result in discharge." Courtney, 171 Wn. App. at 661 (internal citation omitted). How the

parties characterize the separation is not determinative because the facts that caused the unemployment control which law applies. See Read v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 62 Wn. App. 227, 233, 813 P.2d 1262 (1991).

Substantial evidence supports the Commissioner's determination that Ms. Darkenwald voluntarily quit her job. Ms. Darkenwald decided to stop working for Dr. Yamaguchi because she did not want to increase her workweek from two to three days. AR at 89-90, FF 14-17. Ms. Darkenwald and Dr. Yamaguchi both testified that, on July 28, 2010, the latter asked the former to begin working three days per week. AR at 22, 26-27. Both testified that Ms. Darkenwald refused this request. *Id.* 

Ms. Darkenwald testified that she was scheduled to work her regular schedule of two days per week until August 23, 2010 but that "it was just so emotional and so upsetting" and she "needed to end it then." AR at 24, 34. She also stated in a letter sent to Dr. Yamaguchi on August 2, 2010 that she was declining to work through August 23, 2010. AR at 61. Dr. Yamaguchi responded with a letter stating that Ms. Darkenwald was not fired and he did not consider her to be fired at any point. AR at 26, 62. He said that he hoped that she would continue working with the practice as a substitute if she chose not to work three days per week. AR at 27, 62.

Viewing this evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the Department, the evidence is sufficient to lead a rational, fair-minded person to believe the Commissioner's finding that Ms. Darkenwald ended her employment after declining a request to lengthen her workweek to three days. The testimony of Ms. Darkenwald and Dr. Yamaguchi differed on certain material points, but the Commissioner adopted the ALJ's express credibility determination that Dr. Yamaguchi's testimony was more logically persuasive on conflicting points. AR at 90, 114; CL 1. The court cannot reweigh credibility or demeanor evidence when reviewing factual inferences made by the Commissioner. Affordable Cabs, 124 Wn. App. at 367. Furthermore, the Court must uphold the Commissioner's findings even if the evidence is conflicting and could lead to other reasonable interpretations. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Ctr. v. Holman, 107 Wn.2d 693, 713, 732 P.2d 974 (1989).

Ms. Darkenwald could have continued working for Dr. Yamaguchi; it was entirely up to her. She could have chosen to work for three days per week or as a substitute. AR at 61. She was also scheduled to work her normal schedule of two days per week for several more weeks but decided that she "needed to end it then." AR at 24, 34. Ms. Darkenwald intended to end the employment relationship, Dr. Yamaguchi

did not. Importantly, Dr. Yamaguchi had no desire for Ms. Darkenwald to stop working for his practice. AR at 62. He wanted her to work three days per week or serve as a substitute. *Id*.

Instead, Ms. Darkenwald refused any change to her schedule and then refused to continue working for Dr. Yamaguchi altogether. Ms. Darkenwald may argue that she had good cause to quit because of a change in her hours, but it does not change the fact that she quit in the first place. The Commissioner thus properly concluded that Ms. Darkenwald voluntarily quit her job.

## B. The Commissioner Properly Determined That Ms. Darkenwald Did Not Have Good Cause for Quitting Based On A Disability

To be eligible for unemployment benefits under RCW 50.20.050(2), a claimant who voluntarily quit her job has the burden of showing that she had "good cause" for quitting. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); Anderson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 135 Wn. App. 887, 893, 146 P.3d 475 (2006). A claimant can establish good cause only if she quit for one of the 11 reasons enumerated in RCW 50.20.050(2)(b). RCW 50.20.050(2)(a); Campbell v. Dep't of Emp't Sec., No. 42631-5-II, slip. op. at 5, 297 P.3d 757, 760 (Wash. Ct. App. March 26, 2013).

Ms. Darkenwald argues that she had good cause to quit because a physical disability prevented her from working more than two days a

week. To establish good cause for quitting because of a disability, an employee must demonstrate that:

- (a) [She] left work primarily because of such illness, disability, or death;
- (b) The illness, disability, or death made it necessary for [her] to leave work; and
- (c) [She] first exhausted all reasonable alternatives prior to leaving work.

WAC 192-150-055(1); RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(ii). The Commissioner properly concluded that Ms. Darkenwald did not satisfy these requirements.

 Ms. Darkenwald's impairment was not the primary reason that she quit nor did it make it necessary for her to quit.

To prove good cause, Ms. Darkenwald is required to show that she left work primarily because of her neck and back impairment and the impairment made it necessary for her to quit. WAC 192-150-055(1); RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(ii). The Commissioner correctly concluded that she established neither.

Ms. Darkenwald never mentioned in her communications with Dr. Yamaguchi that her impairment physically prevented her from increasing her workweek to three days. AR at 22, 28, 61, 63. She also did not mention the limitation imposed by her neck and back problem in her initial

written application for unemployment benefits. AR at 53-58. Dr. Yamaguchi's stated that Ms. Darkenwald objected to lengthening her workweek, not because of any physical condition, but because doing so would negatively impact her lifestyle, including the time she was able to spend with her family. AR at 25, 62. Ms. Darkenwald's silence and Dr. Yamaguchi's understanding of her motivations support the conclusion that her neck and back problem was not the primary reason for quitting.

The Commissioner also correctly determined that Ms. Darkenwald did not prove that her impairment made it necessary to leave her job. AR at 92; CL 9. Ms. Darkenwald had worked for three or four days per week in the eight years following her 1998 diagnosis. AR at 20-21, 88-89; FF 2. Ms. Darkenwald failed to explain what had changed in 2010 that prevented her from working three days per week, as she had previously.

Moreover, Dr. Yamaguchi had no knowledge that her impairment limited her to working two days per week. He testified, "I don't understand, you know, the timing for the back treatment, if that was an issue as she stated. She worked different hours up to 2006. But it was ten years before that when the claim for her back was, you know, submitted." AR at 25. The Commissioner found Dr. Yamaguchi's account to be more logically persuasive and correctly determined that Ms. Darkenwald had not carried her burden of showing that her condition made it necessary for

her to quit. This resolution of the conflicting evidence should not be disturbed on appeal.

 Ms. Darkenwald did not exhaust all reasonable alternatives before quitting because she did not notify her employer of any limitations imposed by a disabling condition.

To exhaust all reasonable alternatives, a claimant is directed by rule to do as follows: "[Y]ou must notify your employer about your disabling condition before the date you leave work or begin a leave of absence. Notice to the employer shall include any known restrictions on the type or hours of work you may perform." WAC 192-150-060(1). "If your employer offers you alternative work or otherwise offers to accommodate your disability, you must demonstrate good cause to refuse the offer." WAC 192-150-060(4).

Ms. Darkenwald failed to satisfy these requirements. She did not notify Dr. Yamaguchi of her claim that her neck and back impairment would prevent her from working three days per week. Ms. Darkenwald did not testify during the OAH hearing that she informed Dr. Yamaguchi of any physical limitation before she quit. AR at 22. Nor did she mention the purported limitation caused by her impairment in her August 2, 2010 letter to Dr. Yamaguchi or in her reply letter of August 8, 2010. AR at 61, 63. She also did not mention any limitation imposed by her neck and back

problem in her initial written application for unemployment benefits. AR at 53-58.

When asked during the hearing whether Ms. Darkenwald explained why she would not work three days per week, Dr. Yamaguchi said, "Well, she didn't say it was her back at that time, or anything (unintelligible). She didn't say her neck, which the medication was for recently. She didn't say (unintelligible) – she didn't say anything along that line." AR at 28.

In his response to a letter left for him by Ms. Darkenwald shortly after she quit, Dr. Yamaguchi wrote, "You stated at this period of your life that an increase to three days would not be possible. . . . Over the past years you have requested and I have accommodated to reduced number of days per week. From four, to three, and now two days. This had worked for both of us, allowing you to spend time and balance for your family and grand children [sic]." AR at 62.

The evidence establishes that Ms. Darkenwald did not notify Dr. Yamaguchi of any physical limitation that prevented her from working three days per week and Dr. Yamaguchi was not otherwise aware of any such limitation. Accordingly, the Commissioner properly concluded that Ms. Darkenwald did not exhaust all reasonable alternatives because she

did not notify her employer of any disabling condition before quitting.

She is thus ineligible for benefits on this basis alone.

# 3. It would not have been a futile act for Ms. Darkenwald to inform her employer of her disabling condition before quitting.

An individual "may be excused from failure to exhaust reasonable alternatives prior to leaving work . . . if [she] can show that doing so would have been a futile act." WAC 192-150-055(3); see also RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(ii)(A). If Ms. Darkenwald had informed Dr. Yamaguchi of her claim that her impairment would prevent her from working three days a week, he would have had an opportunity to provide an accommodation. Ms. Darkenwald did not establish that providing this notice would have been a futile act.

Ms. Darkenwald argues that it would have been futile because Dr. Yamaguchi knew that her impairment prevented her from working three days per week but made a non-negotiable decision that she was to do so. Respondent's Br. at 25-26. This is false and not supported by the record. Dr. Yamaguchi was not aware of any physical limitation that prevented Ms. Darkenwald from working three days per week and he had a history of accommodating her scheduling requests.

Dr. Yamaguchi did not decide to increase Ms. Darkenwald's hours knowing that she physically would not be able to work three days per week. At the time he sought to increase Ms. Darkenwald's hours, Dr. Yamaguchi was aware of her diagnosis with an impairment back in 1998, but he was completely unaware of Ms. Darkenwald's belief that this impairment would prevent her from working three days per week in 2010. This is clear from his testimony: "I don't understand, you know, the timing for the back treatment, if that was an issue as she stated. She worked different hours up to 2006. But it was ten years before that when the claim for her back was, you know, submitted." AR at 25. Dr. Yamaguchi's belief that Ms. Darkenwald was able to work more hours is supported by the fact that, as Dr. Yamaguchi alluded to, Ms. Darkenwald had worked for three or four days a week for eight years *after* being diagnosed with her impairment. AR at 16, 21, 88-89; FF 3.

Dr. Yamaguchi understood that Ms. Darkenwald's impairment did not prevent her from working three days per week and that past changes in her schedule were due to family reasons, not physical ones. He did not make his decision to increase her hours already knowing that she would not be able to work more. Ms. Darkenwald was obligated to inform him of any physical limitations that prevented her from working more hours; to do so would not have been futile.

Furthermore, Dr. Yamaguchi's history of accommodating Ms. Darkenwald's requests to change her schedule also establishes that it would not have been futile for Ms. Darkenwald to provide notice of her impairment to him before quitting. Shortly after she quit, Dr. Yamaguchi wrote to Ms. Darkenwald, "Over the past years you have requested and I have accommodated to reduced number of days per week. From four, to three, and now two days. This had worked for both of us, allowing you to spend time and balance for your family and grand children [sic]." AR at 62. And he testified, "[A]long the way I tried my best to accommodate her life schedule, she was important. She went from one to four to three to two [days per week]." AR at 27. Ms. Darkenwald has not shown that Dr. Yamaguchi would not have provided an accommodation for the compelling reason of a physical disability.

Ms. Darkenwald has not and cannot prove that it would have been futile to explain to Dr. Yamaguchi that she believed that her impairment would have prevented her from working three days per week, as required under WAC 192-150-055(3) and RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(ii)(A). Ms. Darkenwald was required to inform him of her disabling condition to allow him the opportunity to accommodate it. The Commissioner correctly determined that she failed to do so and is thus ineligible for unemployment benefits.

#### C. Ms. Darkenwald did not have good cause to quit on the ground that she was a part-time worker who was asked to work a fulltime schedule.

Good cause to quit one's job is strictly limited to the reasons listed in RCW 50.20.050(2)(b). RCW 50.20.050(2)(a); Campbell v. Dep't of Emp't Sec., No. 42631-5-II, slip. op. at 5, 297 P.3d 757, 760 (Wash. Ct. App. March 26, 2013). These reasons do not include being asked to work three days per week instead of two. Ms. Darkenwald attempts to add another good cause provision to the list in RCW 50.20.050(2)(b). The Commissioner correctly rejected this effort.

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